Filed 09-01-2021

Page 1 of 42

**FILED** 09-01-2021 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS** 

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

# COURT OF APPEALS

# DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2021AP000939-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JERE J. MEDDAUGH,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Wood County Circuit Court, Judge Gregory Potter, Presiding

# **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

JEFREN E. OLSEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1012235

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8387 olsenj@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Pag	e,
ISSUE PRESENTED.	7

## ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the police have reasonable suspicion to justify the investigatory stop of Jere J. Meddaugh?

The circuit court answered "Yes." (34:28; App. 33).

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Meddaugh does not request oral argument or publication. The single issue in the case involves the application of settled law to the facts of this case and will be fully addressed by the parties' briefs.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Jere J. Meddaugh was charged with possession of more than 50 grams of methamphetamine with intent to deliver within 1,000 feet of a school, possession of drug paraphernalia, resisting an officer, and misdemeanor bail jumping after he was stopped, arrested, and searched by police early in the morning of April 26, 2020. (1:1-3; 9). Meddaugh was bound over after a preliminary hearing, where the state presented the testimony of Deputy John Matthews of the Wood County Sheriff's Department, the officer who stopped Meddaugh. (33:4-15; App. 39-50).

Meddaugh moved to suppress the evidence seized from him on the ground that Deputy Matthews lacked reasonable suspicion to stop Meddaugh for investigation. (12; 13; App. 3-5). The circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on the motion at which Matthews was the only witness. (34; App. 6-36).

Matthews testified that at 12:39 a.m. on April 26, 2020, he was on patrol in Wisconsin Rapids. Matthews saw "zero" people out at the time. (34:19-20; App. 24-25). He could not recall if he had seen people outside earlier that night, but he acknowledged that, despite a recently issued, pandemic-related "stay at home" order, he had seen people out and about, albeit fewer than he was used to seeing in the past. (34:4, 19-21; App. 9, 24-26).

Matthews was driving on Saratoga Street when he saw a "flashing red light" coming from the grounds of Howe Elementary School. (33:4-5; 34:3-4, 16; App. 8-9, 21, 39-40). The area behind the school is "a large, asphalt playground with wood chips on the exterior [sic]." (34:4; App. 9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The following statement of facts is based on the transcripts of both the suppression hearing and the preliminary hearing, as the latter provides some additional details and clarification regarding the events. When reviewing a suppression order, an appellate court may consider facts brought out at proceedings other than the suppression hearing, including the preliminary hearing. *State v. Gaines*, 197 Wis. 2d 102, 106–07 n.1, 539 N.W.2d 723 (Ct. App. 1995).

Case 2021AP000939 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-01-2021 Page 9 of 42

The gate to the school grounds was open, so Matthews drove onto the grounds and saw that the flashing red light was coming from a bicycle moving south across the playground. It was being pedaled by a man wearing "old" "dark" or "black" clothing. (33:5, 10-11; 34:4, 8, 16-17; App. 9, 13, 21-22, 40, 45-46).

Matthews followed the bicycle. When he was about 20 feet away, he turned on his squad spotlight and trained it on the moving bicycle. (34:5; App. 10). With the spotlight on the bicycle and its rider, Matthews caught up to it and "drove up alongside of him assuming that he would see my marked squad with the spotlight showing directly on him." (33:5-6; App. 10-11). When Matthews was approximately fifteen feet away from and parallel to the bicycle, the man riding it "looked back and waved with his hand up in the air." (33:6; App. 11). Matthews "yelled for him to stop," but "he did not." (33:5-6; 34:6; App. 11, 40-41).

Instead, the cyclist continued riding southbound across the school grounds. (34:6, 19; App. 11, 24). The bicycle moved at "a normal pace" and the rider did not try to hide as Matthews continued to follow it. (34:7, 19; App. 12, 24). On the south end of the school grounds, where they abut Oak Street, there is a barrier—a cable suspended between two posts. Both Matthews and the bicyclist went around the barrier. (34:6-8; App. 11-13).

Case 2021AP000939 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-01-2021 Page 10 of 42

The cyclist, crossed Oak Street and rode onto the sidewalk on 7<sup>th</sup> Street. (34:8; App. 13). Matthews continued following the bicycle, crossing Oak Street and driving onto 7<sup>th</sup> Street. (34:8; App. 13). As the bicycle continued south on 7<sup>th</sup> Street, Matthews "drove up, potentially, ahead of him, so with my marked squad, shined – I did have that spotlight on him, and then did the stop." (34:8-9; App. 13-14).

Matthews did not block the bicycle's path, but the man riding it stopped pedaling and dismounted. (33:6; 34:9; App. 14, 41). Matthews got out of his squad car, noted that the man had headphones covering his ears, and announced himself as law enforcement and asked the man why he did not stop. (33:6; 34:9; App. 14, 41). The cyclist, who removed his headphones, responded that he was cutting through the school grounds to go to a convenience store. (33:6; 34:9; App. 14, 41).

Matthews told the cyclist that he had been stopped because it was "suspicious" for him to be "behind a school at that time of the night, wearing dark clothing." (34:10; App. 15). Matthews elaborated a bit on his reasons for the stop at the suppression hearing, testifying that he was "concern[ed]" because, "[a]t that time, we were currently under [a] stay-athome order, and at that time of the night, I hadn't seen any other individuals out walking, riding by, but at that time of the night, I was unsure as to why anybody would be back there. Very unusual." (34:4; App. 9). He also reiterated that the bicyclist "was wearing all black clothing in the early morning hours" and added that

Case 2021AP000939 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-01-2021 Page 11 of 42

he assumed the bicyclist saw the squad car following him and illuminating him with the spotlight, yet "he continued to ride and didn't stop on my command to stop." (34:8; App. 13). (*See also* 34:12-13; App. 17-18).

Matthews acknowledged, however, that he did not have any evidence the man was doing anything illegal. (34:17; App. 22). Indeed, he admitted he was "unsure" what the man was doing wrong. (33:11; 34:18; App. 23, 46). He also acknowledged he had not received any dispatches or heard any reports about possible criminal or suspicious activity at the school and did not know of any history of complaints or problems, such as vandalism, at the school. (34:17; App. 22).

Having explained to the cyclist why he had been stopped, Matthews asked the man for his name. The man initially refused to give his name, and was "agitated, uncooperative, profusely sweating." (34:10; App. 15). Matthews also noticed the man had a handheld scanner tuned to the county sheriff's department, though the man said it was a walkie-talkie; when Matthews disputed the man's statement, the man acknowledged it was a scanner but said it was not illegal to have. (33:8, 34:10-11; App. 15-16, 43).

In response to Matthews's second request for his name, the man gave his first name but not his last, saying he did not have to identify himself and that he did not have to or want to talk to the officer. (33:8; 34:11-12; App. 16-17, 43). After this exchange, and about 30 seconds after he had been stopped, the man

Case 2021AP000939 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-01-2021 Page 12 of 42

remounted his bicycle and rapidly pedaled away. (33:13; 34:8; App. 18, 43). Matthews immediately yelled "stop," but the man continued pedaling away. Matthews gave chase and, within 15 feet, tackled the man, knocking him off his bicycle. (34:13-14; App. 18-19).

The man—later identified as Jere Meddaugh—resisted and refused to comply with Matthews's orders and was finally restrained when backup officers arrived. (34:13-14; App. 18-19). The officers seized a folding knife from Meddaugh's pants' pocket and a substance later identified as methamphetamine from the backpack Meddaugh was carrying. (1:2-3; 33:8-9; 34:14-15; App. 19-20, 43-44).

Based on Deputy Matthews's testimony, the state argued that the officer had reason to stop Meddaugh, citing the stay-at-home order, Meddaugh being on school grounds at 12:30 a.m., "where he shouldn't be," wearing dark clothing and failing to stop when the officer shined the squad spotlight on him as he was riding. (34:23; App. 28). Thought it cited events that happened after Meddaugh stopped on 7th Street, dismounted, and spoke with Matthews, the state argued that "even before Mr. Meddaugh was stopped." the totality of the circumstances provided reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. (34:24-25; App. 29-30). Meddaugh's attorney argued that Meddaugh "was doing absolutely nothing wrong" because it was "totally legal" for him to ride through the school ground, and that what happened after Meddaugh was

Case 2021AP000939 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-01-2021 Page 13 of 42

stopped provided no basis to justify the stop itself. (34:22, 25-26; App. 27, 30-31).

The circuit court denied the suppression motion. (34:28; App. 33). The court noted that, to determine whether there was reasonable suspicion to stop Meddaugh, it had to consider the totality of the circumstances. (34:26; App. 31). It said that the circumstances in this case are "a little bit unique; mainly, because we have this pandemic that's going on. There was a stay-at-home order in effect at that point in time, that there was very little traffic on the roads, even less than normal,..." (34:26; App. 31).

After noted that context, the court summarized the facts established by Deputy Matthews's testimony:

...[Y]ou have an individual who is seen approximately at 12:30 a.m. in the morning. He is on a bicycle behind a school, he's wearing dark clothing, and when the deputy approaches a light on him [sic], he is not moving at a very high rate of speed, but when the deputy comes parallel with him and stops him and has the ability to ask him questions, at that point in time, the defendant is non-responsive. He is unwilling to provide a name.

The deputy sees that there is some type of device, which he inquires what it is. He's informed that it's a walkie-talkie, the deputy recognizes that it's a scanner. It states Wood County on it.

The deputy then inquires of his name. He provides a first name, and before he's willing to provide any additional information, he gets on his bike and starts pedaling faster away from the deputy, which results in the deputy attempting to stop, ultimately taking him off the bike, dragging him to the ground, where he is handcuffed, attempted to be restrained, I should say, until additional officers or deputies arrive.

(34:26-27; App. 31-32).

The court then turned to the legal standard for determining whether the stop of Meddaugh was supported by reasonable suspicion:

In looking at the totality, again, we have to look at the time, 12:40 in the morning, the fact that there's a stay-at-home order which means less than normal that could be on the street; even less than what's normal at 12:40 in the morning.

The location is a school where no one should be around at that time of the day, the fact that he's wearing dark clothing, the fact that once the deputy first makes contact, he doesn't respond to a verbal command.

When a light is shown on him in [sic] a verbal command is communicated, again, he doesn't react.

Ultimately, when the deputy is able to get him to stop, he's non-cooperative, won't provide a name, lies about the equipment that he has, ultimately gives a first name after refusing to give a last name, and while still being questioned, leaves the deputy's presence, even though he's commanded to stop and stay there.

Based on those circumstances, I think there is a reasonable suspicion for the stop, and obviously, when it gets to the point where he refuses to provide a full name, and the fact that he continues to lie to the officer about the equipment and then, gets on his bike and leaves is the total basis for the stop, and therefore, the Motion to Suppress is denied.

(34:27-28; App. 32-33).

Meddaugh later entered a no contest plea to the charge of possession of between 10 and 50 grams of methamphetamine with intent to deliver, without the school zone enhancer. (17; 18:1; 36:2-3). The remaining charges were dismissed and read in, as were charges in another pending case (13-CT-494) and two uncharged offenses. (14; 36:2, 3, 4). The court sentenced Meddaugh to eight years in prison (four years of initial confinement and four years of extended supervision). (27; 37:15).

Meddaugh appeals the denial of his motion to suppress as permitted under Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10). (30).

#### ARGUMENT

Deputy Matthews did not have reasonable suspicion to stop Meddaugh, so the seizure and resulting search of Meddaugh violated his right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures.

A. General legal principles and standard of review.

Both the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions guarantee citizens the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 11; State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶18, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729. "The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution is the securing anchor of the right of persons to their privacy against government intrusion." State v. Gordon, 2014 WI App 44, ¶11, 353 Wis. 2d 468, 476, 846 N.W.2d 483.

This case involves the reasonableness of Deputy Matthews's seizure of Jere Meddaugh after he rode his bicycle through a school yard early one morning. Resolving the legality of that seizure requires this court to decide when Meddaugh was seized and whether the officer had reasonable suspicion to justify that seizure at the time the seizure occurred. *State v. VanBeek*, 2021 WI 51, ¶25, 397 Wis. 2d 311, 960 N.W.2d 32 (when a seizure is claimed to have occurred, reviewing court first determines "when it began and whether it was

Case 2021AP000939 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-01-2021 Page 17 of 42

constitutionally permissible at its inception."); *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 16, 19-20 (1968).

Not every interaction between a police officer and a citizen implicates the constitutional guarantees against unreasonable seizure. VanBeek, 397 Wis. 2d 311, ¶26; Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶18; Terry, 392 U.S. at 12-14, 19 n.16. It is not unreasonable for law enforcement officers to approach citizens on the street and put questions to them "as long as the police do not convey a message that compliance with their request is required." Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991).Instead. a seizure implicating Fourth Amendment occurs "when an officer, 'by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen. []" State v. Williams, 2002 WI 94, ¶20, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834, quoting United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 552 (1980), and *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 19 n.16. This test focuses on whether, under the totality of the circumstances, the actions of law enforcement "would 'have communicated to a reasonable person that he was not at liberty to ignore the police presence and go about his business." Kaupp v. Texas, 538 U.S. 626, 629 (2003), quoting Bostick, 501 U.S. at 437. See also Bostick, 501 U.S. at 439 (a seizure occurs if "police conduct would have communicated to a reasonable person that the person was not free to decline the otherwise officers' request or terminate encounter."). For a seizure to be effectuated by means of a show of authority only, without the use of physical force, the citizen must actually yield to that show of Case 2021AP000939 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-01-2021 Page 18 of 42

authority. State v. Kelsey C.R., 2001 WI 54, ¶33, 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 777.

Whether a person has been seized for purposes of the Fourth Amendment is a question of constitutional fact subject to a two-part standard of review. The trial court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact are upheld unless they are clearly erroneous, while the determination of whether the person was "seized" for Fourth Amendment purposes is reviewed independently. *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶17.

One type of seizure permitted under the Fourth Amendment is a temporary detention of a investigatory person for questioning. VanBeek, 397 Wis. 2d 311, ¶27; Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶20; Terry, 392 U.S. at 30. For such an investigatory stop to pass constitutional muster, the police must "reasonable suspicion that a crime has been committed, is being committed, or is about to be committed." Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶20. "The question of what constitutes reasonable suspicion is a commonsense test: under all the facts and circumstances present, what would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience." State v. (Charles) Young, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 424, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997). There must be "articulable facts" in the record that, when "taken together with rational inferences from those facts" and "viewed objectively," allow for an officer to reasonably conclude "that criminal activity may be afoot." State v. Matthews, 2011 WI App 92, ¶11, 334 Wis. 2d 455, 799 N.W.2d 911, citing *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 21-22, 30.

Case 2021AP000939 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-01-2021 Page 19 of 42

Because suspicion of criminal wrongdoing only becomes "reasonable suspicion" when it is based on "specific and articulable facts," a mere "hunch" is not sufficient. *VanBeek*, 397 Wis. 2d 311, ¶¶20, 52; *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶21, quoting *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 27. And because the test focuses on an objectively reasonable officer, "simple good faith on the part of the arresting officer is not enough." *State v. Pugh*, 2013 WI App 12, ¶11, 345 Wis. 2d 832, 841-842, 826 N.W.2d 418. "[I]f it were, the protections of the Fourth Amendment would evaporate, and the people would be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, only in the discretion of the police." *Id.*, quoting *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 22.

As with a review of whether a seizure has occurred, whether police had reasonable suspicion for the seizure is assessed with a two-part standard of review. *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶17. A circuit court's findings of fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous, but whether those facts constitute reasonable suspicion is reviewed independently. *Id*. The burden of proving that an investigative stop was reasonable is on the state. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶12, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634.

B. Meddaugh was seized when Deputy Matthews drove his marked squad car ahead of Meddaugh, pulled over, and then got out and approached Meddaugh, who had stopped pedaling and dismounted his bicycle.

As noted above, a seizure for purposes of the Fourth Amendment occurs where an officer, "by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen[]." *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 552. The focus is on whether a "reasonable person" would feel free to leave. *Id.* at 554. "As long as the person to whom the questions are put remains free to disregard the questions and walk away, there has been no intrusion upon that person's liberty or privacy as would under the Constitution require some particular and objective justification." *Id. See also Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶18.

This case does not involve a casual street encounter. Instead, Deputy Matthews initially made contact with Meddaugh from inside his marked squad car, when he followed and drew parallel to Meddaugh, shined his spotlight on Meddaugh, and yelled at Meddaugh to "stop." (34:6; App. 11). Meddaugh waved—indicating he saw the officer—but kept riding, without deviating from his apparent route or increasing his speed or trying to hide. (*Id.*).<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It is apparent that Meddaugh did not hear Matthews's command to stop because he was wearing headphones with music playing. (33:6; 34:9; App. 14, 41).

Case 2021AP000939 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-01-2021 Page 21 of 42

Meddaugh was free to keep riding. "Where a police officer, 'without reasonable suspicion approaches an individual, probable cause, individual has a right to ignore the police and go about his business." Young, 294 Wis. 2d ¶73, quoting Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 125 (2000) (emphasis Young). Further, under supplied by circumstances, "any 'refusal to cooperate, without more, does not furnish the minimal level of objective justification needed for a [stop] or [arrest]." Id. (citation omitted).

In response to Meddaugh going about his business, Matthews persisted in showing his authority and, as he testified, attempting to make contact with and stop Meddaugh. (33:6; App. 11). Matthews did this by following Meddaugh through the school yard, around the barrier at the south end, and onto 7th Street. On 7th Street, Matthews continued to drive alongside and then pulled ahead of Meddaugh, all the while training his squad spotlight on Meddaugh. And Meddaugh yielded to this persistent show of authority: he stopped pedaling and dismounted. Matthews cemented the seizure by stopping his squad car, getting out, announcing himself as law enforcement, and telling Meddaugh why he had been stopped. (34:6-9; App. 11-14).

The circuit court's findings of fact and legal conclusions recognize that Meddaugh was seized at the point he stopped his bicycle and dismounted. In reciting the facts, the court found "the deputy comes parallel with [Meddaugh] and stops him and has the

Case 2021AP000939 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-01-2021 Page 22 of 42

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