FILED 11-16-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2021AP939-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JERE J. MEDDAUGH,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN WOOD COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE GREGORY J. POTTER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JENNIFER L. VANDERMEUSE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1070979

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1740 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) vandermeusejl@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

Deputy Matthews had reasonable suspicion to conduct an investigatory stop when he saw a man in dark clothing riding his bicycle through an elementary school playground around 12:40 a.m. while Wisconsin's Safer at Home Order was in effect.

A. Deputy Matthews conducted a temporary, investigatory stop when he stopped Meddaugh on 7th Street.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects individuals from unreasonable searches and seizures. *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 17. Consistent with Fourth Amendment protections, law enforcement may conduct an investigatory or $Terry^4$ stop of a person if the officer has reasonable suspicion to believe that a crime has been, is being, or is about to be committed. *Id.* ¶ 20; Wis. Stat. § 968.24.

An investigatory stop is a seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes. *Id*. It usually involves only temporary questioning and thus, constitutes "only a minor infringement on personal liberty." *Id*.

To constitute an investigatory stop, "an officer must make a show of authority, and the citizen must actually yield to that show of authority." *In re Kelsey C.R.*, 2001 WI 54, \P 33, 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 777. "Yet, not every display of

_

⁴ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

police authority rises to a 'show of authority' that constitutes a seizure." *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 65. "A police officer's actions must be assessed in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident" to determine if the actions would "cause a reasonable person to believe that he [or she] was not free to leave." Id.

Here, Deputy Matthews conducted a temporary, investigatory stop when he stopped Meddaugh on 7th Street and Meddaugh dismounted his bicycle. At that point in time, Matthews made a show of authority by announcing himself as law enforcement and stating the reason for his stop, and Meddaugh yielded to that authority by stopping and dismounting his bicycle. (R. 34:9–10.)

The moment of seizure limits what facts a reviewing court considers in evaluating reasonable suspicion. See Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 23. A reviewing court "independently and objectively examine[s] the facts known to the officer at the time of the alleged seizure." VanBeek, 397 Wis. 2d 311, ¶ 22.

The sole issue in this appeal is whether Matthews had reasonable suspicion to conduct the investigatory stop on 7th Street.⁵ As explained below, he did. This Court should affirm the circuit court.

⁵ This appeal does not concern whether all of the circumstances, including the transpiring events after the stop, amount to probable cause for the arrest. Rather, Meddaugh's sole argument is that his suppression motion should have been granted because Deputy Matthews lacked reasonable suspicion to stop him on 7th Street in the first place. (See generally Meddaugh Br.)

B. A police officer may conduct an investigatory stop when he or she can reasonably infer, based on the totality of the circumstances, that a person has committed or is about to commit a crime.

An investigatory stop is constitutional "if the police have reasonable suspicion that a crime has been committed, is being committed, or is about to be committed." Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 20. Reasonable suspicion means that the police officer "possess[es] specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot." *Id.* ¶ 21 (citation omitted); VanBeek, 397 Wis. 2d 311, ¶ 28. What constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common-sense, totalityof-the-circumstances test that asks, under all the facts and circumstances present, "[w]hat would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience"? State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996) (citing State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990)). That suspicion cannot be inchoate, but rather must be particularized and articulable: "A mere hunch that a person . . . is . . . involved in criminal activity is insufficient." Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 21 (citing Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968)).

A police officer has reasonable suspicion to stop a person when he or she observes acts that are individually lawful, but when taken together, allow that officer to objectively discern "a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct." *Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d at 60. In other words, police do not need "to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop." *Id.* at 59 (citing *Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d at 84). The facts in *Terry*, as discussed in *Waldner* and other cases, illustrate that principle.

In *Terry*, the Court upheld the legality of a police officer's investigative stop where the officer "observed the defendants repeatedly walk back and forth in front of a store window at 2:30 in the afternoon, and then confer with each other. The officer suspected the two of contemplating a robbery and stopped them to investigate further." *Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d at 59.

Even though walking "back and forth in front of a store is perfectly legal behavior . . . reasonable inferences of criminal activity can be drawn from such behavior." *Id.* Indeed, "the suspects in *Terry* 'might have been casing the store for a robbery, or they might have been window-shopping or impatiently waiting for a friend in the store." *State v. Jackson*, 147 Wis. 2d 824, 835, 434 N.W.2d 386 (1989) (quoting 3 Wayne R. LaFave, *Search and Seizure* § 9.2(c) at 357–58 (2d ed. 1987)). But the officer in *Terry* permissibly stopped the defendants because "Terry's conduct though lawful was suspicious" and "gave rise to a reasonable inference that criminal activity was afoot." *Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d at 60.

In other words, the presence of ambiguity does not defeat reasonable suspicion. "Suspicious conduct by its very nature is ambiguous, and the principal function of the investigative stop is to quickly resolve that ambiguity." *Id.* (citing *Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d at 84). "Thus, when a police officer observes lawful but suspicious conduct," if that officer can objectively discern "a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct..., notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inferences ...," that officer may "temporarily detain the individual for the purpose of inquiry." *Id.* (citing *Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d at 84).

Relevant here, "visibility, isolation of the scene, and the number of people in an area may all contribute to the determination of reasonable suspicion. State v. Kyles, 2004 WI 15, ¶ 58 & n.44, 269 Wis. 2d 1, 675 N.W.2d 449 (collecting cases); see also In re Kelsey C.R., 243 Wis. 2d 422, ¶ 43. "The hour of the day may also be relevant," because a person's activities "may or may not be consistent with the typical behavior of law-abiding citizens at that time." Kyles, 269 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 58; see also State v. Morgan, 197 Wis. 2d 200, 214, 539 N.W.2d 887 (1995) (holding that the time of night may be considered when determining the legality of a pat-down search).

Circumstances deriving from the COVID-19 pandemic, coupled with other factors, can give rise to reasonable suspicion. For example, in *United States of America v*. Sanchez, a case out of the District Court of New Mexico, an agent questioned a woman while she was a passenger on a Greyhound bus. United States of America v. Sanchez, No. 21-CR-1040 KG, 2021 WL 5003442, at *1-2 (D.N.M. Oct. 28, 2021) (unpublished).⁶ The agent noticed her sitting in a window seat, directly next to another passenger. Id. at *1. This raised the agent's suspicion, given the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and the relative emptiness of the bus—there were only seven to ten people on board out of 60 to 80 seats. Id. According to his experience and training, smugglers often travel and sit together as a precautionary measure. Id. The court ruled that the agent had reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. Id. at *3. "The fact that she and a fellow passenger were sitting directly next to each other on an empty

 6 Unpublished federal court opinions may be cited for their persuasive value. See State ex rel. Gendrich v. Litscher, 2001 WI App 163, \P 7 n.6, 246 Wis.2d 814, 632 N.W.2d 878.

bus in the middle of a pandemic and claimed not to know each other is suspicious." *Id*.

Finally, when a person disregards a police officer's command or engages in evasive action, this disregard, under certain circumstances, can reinforce reasonable suspicion. *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 75. In *Young*, an officer pulled alongside a parked car containing five people and illuminated his spotlight on the car. Id. ¶ 10. It was around midnight, and the car was parked in a "problem area" with several nearby bars. Id. ¶ 6. In the officer's experience, there was a correlation between people remaining in their cars for an extended time and the use of alcohol and narcotics in their cars. Id. ¶ 62. When the officer pulled up and shone his light on the car, the people had been in their car for at least five to ten minutes. Id. ¶ 64.

The moment the officer shined the spotlight, Young got out of his car. Id. ¶ 71. The officer called out to Young, and Young either did not hear or ignored the officer's call. Id. The Wisconsin Supreme Court observed that "[i]f there were any doubt that [the officer] had reasonable suspicion before he illuminated the car, there can be no doubt that [the officer] had reasonable suspicion after Young got out of the car and disregarded [the officer's] first order." Id. Young's behavior "smacked of evasion and flight," and set against the other circumstances, "reinforced reasonable suspicion." Id. ¶ 75.

People have the right to disregard the police without giving rise to reasonable suspicion, when an officer approaches them *without reasonable suspicion or probable cause*. *Id.* ¶ 73. However, if a person disregards an officer's order, he or she "assumes the risk that the officer cannot establish that he had reasonable suspicion for an investigatory stop." Id. ¶ 74.

C. Deputy Matthews had reasonable suspicion to stop Meddaugh.

Here, Deputy Matthews made several specific and concrete observations that give rise to a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct under the circumstances. First, he saw Meddaugh bicycling behind an elementary school at about 12:40 a.m. on a Sunday night. (R. 34:3.) While the bike had a flashing light attached, the man was wearing dark clothing. (R. 34:3-4, 8.) The school was closed, and there was no one else around. (R. 34:4.) Second, Meddaugh was out riding in the middle of the night when Wisconsin's Safer at Home Order was in effect. (R. 34:4.) The order required all individuals within Wisconsin to stay at their place of residence, with certain exceptions such as "essential activities." Matthews "hadn't seen any other individuals out walking, riding by," and at that time of night, he was "unsure as to why anybody would be back there." (R. 34:4.) Taking these facts together, Matthews objectively discerned "a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct." Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d at 60.

That particularized, articulable inference is as follows: when a man is found bicycling by himself through an elementary school playground in dark clothing in the middle of the night, during a time when a statewide order requires people to stay at their residences except to go about certain limited activities, one could infer that the person was out for an unlawful purpose.

The fact that Meddaugh had a flasher on his bicycle does not negate this reasonable suspicion. Indeed, the suspect in *Kelsey* was sitting in plain sight outside a storefront where most of the stores were closed, yet her presence in that

 $^{^7}$ See Emergency Order # 28, Safer at Home Order, Apr. 16, 2020, available at: https://evers.wi.gov/Documents/COVID19/EMO28-SaferAtHome.pdf

location, at the particular hour of night, gave rise to reasonable suspicion. In re Kelsey C.R., 243 Wis. 2d 422, \P 43. It is the late hour, the fact that the elementary school was closed and no one else was around, and the fact that the Safer at Home Order rendered even fewer people out than normal that gave rise to reasonable suspicion. Meddaugh's behavior under these circumstances was not "consistent with the typical behavior of law-abiding citizens at that time." *Kyles*, 269 Wis. 2d 1, \P 58.

Of course, it could have been exactly as Meddaugh said, that he was cutting across the school grounds to go to Kwik Trip. But as *Terry* shows, Matthews was not required to rule out that type of inference before initiating a temporary stop to "quickly resolve" the ambiguities that were present. *Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d at 60 (citing *Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d at 84). The circuit court correctly concluded that Deputy Matthews had reasonable suspicion to conduct an investigative stop of Meddaugh under the circumstances.

While these facts alone give rise to reasonable suspicion, the additional fact that Meddaugh disregarded Matthew's call to "stop" while he was riding through the school grounds "reinforced reasonable suspicion." Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 75. Meddaugh's apparent disregard of the deputy's call, coupled with the suspicious circumstances of the time of night, absence of any people, and riding his bike on closed school grounds, is not consistent with someone disregarding police presence and going about his business. Rather, it is more consistent with evasive action. *Id.* The fact that Meddaugh did not speed up or necessarily change course does not mean that he was not evading the officer at the point when the officer yelled for him to stop. The facts show that the officer had trained a spotlight on Meddaugh, and Meddaugh undoubtedly saw the officer. (R. 34:6.) Yet when the officer called for him to stop, Meddaugh did not. (R. 34:6.) Rather, he rode off school grounds, around two posts and a

cable designed to block the driveway. (R. 34:7.) The officer could reasonably infer evasion.

If any of the facts would have been different, it might have been a closer call. For example, if Meddaugh had been riding on a street in broad daylight or even at dusk, when the Safer at Home Order was not in effect, and an officer decided to shine a spotlight on him and yell "stop," Meddaugh's disregard of that command would have been consistent with going about his business. But under the circumstances, it contributed to reasonable suspicion.

Deputy Matthews' suspicion was more than a mere hunch. He provided specific, articulable facts that objectively give rise to reasonable inferences that criminal activity was afoot. The stop was proper. And because the stop was supported by reasonable suspicion, Meddaugh had no right to terminate it and flee. (R. 34:12); *State v. Goyer*, 157 Wis. 2d 532, 537, 460 N.W.2d 424 (Ct. App. 1990) ("[i]f a consideration of all the circumstances shows that the [lawful Terry stop] has not been completed, a suspect does not have a right to terminate the [stop].").

- D. Meddaugh's arguments misunderstand the law and fail to account for the totality of the circumstances.
 - 1. Meddaugh's presence at a closed elementary school in the middle of the night while the Safer at Home Order was in effect give rise to reasonable suspicion.

Meddaugh argues that the State failed to explain why Meddaugh's presence on the school grounds after hours gives rise to reasonable suspicion. (Meddaugh Br. 26–27.) His argument appears to be that because no sign explicitly prohibited him from being on the grounds, then his presence there after hours cannot form the basis for reasonable

suspicion. This is incorrect. Simply because it might have been technically lawful for Meddaugh to be on school grounds does not mean that it was not suspicious. "[S]uspicious conduct by its very nature is ambiguous, and the principal function of the investigative stop is to quickly resolve that ambiguity." *Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d at 84; *see also Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d at 59 (same).

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